1"\“%_/\m ‘I‘CC*)

Verne, B. Michael

From: N

Sent: Tuesday, May 01, 2012 5:47 PM
To: Verne, B. Michael

Cc: L

Subject: Informal Interpretation 1012001
Mike -

Can you please confirm that the below informal interpretation still reflects the FTC's view on this issue?

Thanks, 52& j\—'\T/\C*H'w>

Please consider the environment before printing this email.

This email message and any attachments are being sent b_ are confidential, and may be privileged. If you are not
the intended recipient, please notify us immediately—by replying to this message or by sending an email t and destroy all
copies of this message and any attachments. Thank you.

For more information about WilmerHale, please visit us at http://www.wilmerhate.com.

http://www.ftc.gov/be/hsr/informal/opinions/1012001.htm
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Bureau of Competition

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20530

Dear Ms. Bruno, Mr. Verne, and Ms, Walsh:

We are writing for clarification regarding treatment of certain documents prepared for counsel's
antitrust analysis of a proposed transaction.

l. Factual Scenario

The situation arises in the following hypothetical scenario. Acquiring entity has reached an
agreement in principle to purchase a business, The transaction is reportable, and may present
some competitive issues warranting discussion with the Commission Staff in connection with the
anticipated HSR filing. The acquiring entity retains antitrust counsel to begin the process of (i)
preparing a presentation to the Commission Staff and (ii) coliecting information that counsel
anticipates may be the subject of a voluntary request for additional information. In doing so,
counsel requests that client provide pre-existing documents and oilier information (including
written narratives) to counsel for the sole purpose of assisting counsel in preparing to engage witll
ilie Commission Staff. This infol1nation discusses competitors and post -acquisition market
shares.

Because the transaction has not been made public yet, and few individuals within the
company know about it, certain executives (including officers} compile the requested information
and forward it to counsel. This information is not used by any officer or director for any business
purpose.

Il. Analysis

It is our understanding that these documents do not fall within ltem 4(c), because they were
not prepared by or for an officer or director (acting in that capacity) for any business purpose, but
instead were prepared for the purpose of participating in anticipated regulatory proceedings. As
such, neither the pre-existing documents nor the written narratives need to be disclosed or logged.

It is our view that such documents do not fall within Formal Interpretation No.8, Formal
Interpretation No.8 concerned opinions of counsel provided to a company's officers or directors for
the express business purpose of deciding whether to enter into the proposed transaction. This is
consistent with the Statement of Basis and Purposes relating to the initial adoption of ltem 4( c),
noting that documents are "highly relevant" because they "form the basis of a parties decision to
proceed with the acquisition;” and that documents prepared "for other purposes” are "excluded"
from the scope of Item 4(c). See Federal Register, Vol. 43, No. 147 at 33526,1978.

This distinction is also reflected in Informal Interpretation No. 0509004. At issue in that opinion
were certain documents reflecting antitrust legal analysis prepared by the buyer's counsel and,
with one exception, provided to the Seller's officers or directors. The "purpose of each of these
documents was to convince the Seller that the transaction was reasonably capable of
consummation," and therefore, to convince the Seller to proceed with the transaction. Thus, the
documents were prepared by and for officers and directors of both companies for the business
purpose of deciding whether to engage in the transaction.

This is distinct from the situation here, where the documents were prepared at the request of
counsel for the purpose of assisting counsel in interacting with the FTC Staff on this matter. The
distinction between documents prepared for purposes of analyzing a transaction for business
purposes and those prepared for purposes of complying with a regulatory proceeding is well
recognized by the Commission's Pre-merger Notification Office. For example, in Informal

Interpretation No. 04040086, the Staff agreed that documents prepared in connection with a
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certificate of need proceeding that contained market data (of the subject matter identified in Item
4( c)) did not qualify as a 4(c) document, apparently because it was not prepared for a business
purpose. Similarly, in Informal Interpretation No. 0706019, the Staff concluded that "documents
that discuss only the likelihood and timing of HSR approval” do not qualify as 4(c) documents,
even if they were "found in the files of officers and/or directors.”

We believe that any other interpretation would read the "for the purpose" ianguage out of the
statute, making any documents relating to the identified subject matter responsive, regardless of
its purpose. Such an approach would be contrary to a number of informal interpretations. Informal
Interpretation No. 0509001, for example, makes it clear that if a document prepared by the seller
was given to the buyer's officers and directors "after the transaction document has been executed
and thus was not used to analyze or evaluate the transaction (i. e., the decision to go ahead with
the transaction was clearly not based at all on such documents),” the document is not a 4( c)

document for the acquiring person.

Other informal staff opinions appear make it clear that a document only becomes a 4( ¢)
document if the reason it was prepared was to further not just some business formation, but a
business formation typically carried out by an officer or director. In that regard, Informal
Interpretation No. 0804009 and Informal Interpretation No. 0503019 make it clear that when an
officer or director is merely facilitating the flow of information, such as where he acts in his or her
capacity as a member of the due diligence team or where he or she co-chairs an integration
planning team, such documents are not being prepared for the purpose of an officer or director's
evaluation of the enumerated topics.

As noted, here, the documents requested by counsel are not being prepared by or for an
officer or director for purposes of analyzing whether to go ahead with the transaction or for any
business purposes. Rather, the documents were seen by officer or directors only in their capacity
as members of the team seeking to assist with the regulatory approval process, and not to fulfili
any quintessential officer or director function.

Accordingly, in our view, the documents at issue do not appear to be ltem 4(c) documents within
the meaning of the applicable rules, SBP, or infom1al interpretations. Please let us know if you
concur with this conclusion.



The third paragraph from the end which begins “Other informai staff
opinions” addresses the “two hats” interpretation which is no longer
our position (see attached). The bulk of the interpretation, however,
deals with documents prepared by officers or directors at the request
of counsel for the sole purpose of engaging FTC staff on the antitrust
implications of the transaction and to collect information that is
expected to be the subject of an anticipated request by FTC staff for
voluntary submission of additional information.

lgnoring the two hats issue, | think there is still an argument that these
documents, even though they were prepared by officers or directors
and have 4(c) content, are not responsive, because they are being
used to present information to the Agency to convince it that the
transaction should be allowed fo proceed, rather than being used by
officers or directors to evaluate or analyze the acquisition with respect
to markets, market shares and other competitive issues.



Our current approach to this is you make the call. | think it is a
very difficult line to establish and if | were advising a client | would
have them provide all docs prepared by or for a director of the
filing party, regardless of which hat he is purportedly wearing at
the time. That said, if you think there is enough of a firewall to
insulate the director in his role as venture capital fund
representative from his role as director of the filing party, don’t
provide the document. You need to make sure you have a strong
argument supporting this because if the document shows up in a
second request production I'm sure it will get questioned by a
litigation shop.





